JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT			
STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1			
STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS			
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT			
ARGUMENT			
I.	Standard of Review		
II.	OEA Exceeded its Jurisdiction by Considering Charges Outside the Final Agency Decision		
III.	OEA Erred in Sustaining the Inefficiency Charge After Reversing the 15-Day Suspension		
CONCLUSION25			
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE			
REDACTION CERTIFICATION FORM			
ADDENDUM TABLE OF CONTENTS29			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Apartment & Off. Bldg. Ass'n of Metro. Washington v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of D.C., 129 A.3d 925 (D.C. 2016)23
District of Columbia Office of Tax & Revenue v. BAE Sys. Enter. Sys., 56 A.3d 477 (D.C. 2012)14
District of Columbia v. Davis, 685 A.2d 389 (D.C. 1996)14
District of Columbia v. King, 766 A.2d 38 (D.C. 2001)13
In re Employee v. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA Matter No. 1601-0014-21, Initial Decision (August 22, 2022)
Johnston v. Gov't Printing Off., 5 M.S.P.R. 354 (1981)
Jones v. District of Columbia Dept. of Emp't Servs., 519 A.2d 704 (D.C.1987)23
NBC v. District of Columbia Comm'n on Human Rights, 463 A.2d 657 (D.C.1983)
Office of D.C. Controller v. Frost, 638 A.2d 657 (D.C.1994)
Placido v. District of Columbia Dep't of Emp. Serv., 92 A.3d 323 (D.C. 2014)13
Pope v. U.S.P.S., 114 F.3d 1144 (Fed. Cir. 1997)24
Settlemire v. District of Columbia Office of Employee Apps., 898 A.2d 902 (D.C. 2006)13
Sherman v. Alexander, 684 F.2d 464 (7th Cir. 1982)24
Sholanda Miller v. D.C. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA Matter No. 1601-0325-10, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (Apr. 14, 2015)21
Sims v. District of Columbia, 933 A.2d 305 (2007)13
Stanley Barker v. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA Matter No. 1601-0143-10, Initial Decision (November 28, 2012)21

Tonia Adams v. Department of Corrections, OEA Matter No. 1601-0016-13, Initial Decision (Dec. 19, 2014)
Urb. Dev. Sols., LLC v. D.C., 992 A.2d 1255 (D.C. 2010)
Washington v. District of Columbia Dep't of Pub. Works, 954 A.2d 945 (D.C. 2008)
Statutes
6-B D.C.M.R. § 604.1
6-B D.C.M.R. § 631.2
6-B D.C.M.R. § 634.2(a)
6-B D.C.M.R. § 699.115
D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1)1
D.C. Code § 1-606.03
D.C. Code § 1-606.03(b)14
D.C. Code § 5-1031

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1) as the appeal is taken from the final order of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Office of Employee Appeals exceeded its jurisdiction by sustaining a disciplinary action based on charges that were different from those cited by the agency in its final decision.
- 2. Whether the Office of Employee Appeals erred in sustaining an inefficiency charge premised on three prior adverse actions, when one of those prior actions was reversed by OEA.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Lieutenant Craig Royal of the Metropolitan Police Department ("MPD") appealed a 20-day suspension for an off-duty use of force incident in 2015. At the time, Lt. Royal was already facing a 15-day suspension for an unrelated incident. The earlier suspension was eventually overturned and is not directly at issue in this appeal, but it is necessary context for the 20-day suspension that Lt. Royal asks this Court to overturn.

On November 12, 2015, the Director of MPD's Disciplinary Review Branch proposed the termination of Lt. Royal based on seven charges. Lt. Royal requested an Adverse Action Hearing Panel to contest the proposed termination. The Panel found Lt. Royal "not guilty" of five of the charges, but "guilty" of two, one for

escalating the conflict and one for "inefficiency," a cumulative charge for having previous misconduct charges. On June 27, 2015, the Director of MPD's Human Resource Management Division issued a final agency decision suspending Lt. Royal for 20 days based on the two charges. Lt. Royal appealed that decision to the Office of Employee Appeals ("OEA").

At OEA, Lt. Royal moved to consolidate the appeal of his 20-day suspension with his already pending appeal of the 15-day suspension. The consolidation was necessary because the inefficiency charge was premised on the existence of three prior adverse actions, one of which was the 15-day suspension.

Senior Administrative Judge Joseph Lim reversed the 15-day suspension entirely. Judge Lim also reversed the escalation charge supporting the 20-day suspension. But not only did Judge Lim uphold the inefficiency charge, he found that the agency proved two other charges that had been proposed but were not included as a basis for MDP's final decision. Based on these other charges (and the inefficiency charge), Judge Lim upheld the 20-day suspension.

Lt. Royal appealed Judge Lim's decision to the D.C. Superior Court, arguing that OEA did not have jurisdiction to impose charges that were not brought by the agency. Lt. Royal also argued that Judge Lim erred in sustaining the inefficiency charge, which was based, in part, on the 15-day suspension that he reversed.

On March 7, 2022 the Superior Court denied Lt. Royal's Petition for Review. On March 29, 2022 Lt. Royal noted his appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Lt. Royal joined MPD on September 24, 1990, as a patrol officer. A87. In 2010, he purchased an apartment building at 3536 Center Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. A88. The building has 26 apartments and a small parking area for residents. *Id.* Lt. Royal has resided in the building with his family since 2012. *Id.* In early 2015, MPD initiated two disciplinary actions against Lt. Royal for incidents that occurred at his apartment building, one in February 2015 and one in April 2015.

February 7, 2015 – 15-Day Suspension

On February 7, 2015, Lt. Royal was off duty at his residence when he heard a woman's persistent screaming from one of the apartments. A90. Believing there might be an assault in progress, Lt. Royal responded to the apartment where he discovered his tenant with another man and a woman. *Id.* Once inside, Lt. Royal assessed that no one was hurt and that the screaming was due to an argument between one of the men and the woman. A50-51; A90. After evaluating the scene and helping to deescalate the argument, Lt. Royal escorted the woman out of the building at the request of his tenant. A91. The woman later called the police to report the incident. A92.

Following this incident, the Department served Lt. Royal with notice of a proposed 15-day suspension. A98. The Department accused Lt. Royal of failing to determine whether a crime had been committed, failing to obtain a translator for those involved, and taking police action without notifying on-duty members of the department. A98-99. Lt. Royal responded in writing and on August 27, 2015, MPD issued a final notice of adverse action suspending him for 15 days. A201. Lt. Royal appealed the suspension to the Chief of Police but was unsuccessful. *Id.* He then filed an appeal at OEA. A102.

April 16, 2015 – 20-Day Suspension

In April 2015, Lt. Royal was involved in another off-duty incident at his residence. At the time, Lt. Royal's neighborhood was undergoing extensive construction. Construction workers from job sites in the area had been parking illegally in the spaces designated for Lt. Royal's residents. A103.

On April 16, 2015, Lt. Royal saw a construction vehicle park in one of the apartment building's spots. A235. Lt. Royal directed the man, later identified as Theophilis Lewis, to move his vehicle. *Id.* Mr. Lewis blew him off, saying he would only be there for a second. *Id.* Lt. Royal replied that he could not park there for any period of time and demanded that he move his vehicle immediately. *Id.* Mr. Lewis ignored Lt. Royal and walked toward the construction site. *Id.*

After ten minutes, Lt. Royal decided to block the vehicle with his parent's minivan so that it could be ticketed and towed. A236. Lt. Royal then went back inside to call the police. A104; A236. While he watched from his apartment, Mr. Lewis returned with another man, Christian Johnson, and maneuvered the truck around Lt. Royal's van. A236-37. He saw the van move as if it had been struck, and the truck drove away. A237. Lt. Royal went downstairs to assess the damage to the van. *Id.* At the time, he was carrying his "less-than-lethals"—his Department issued baton and his oleoresin capsicum ("OC") spray. A104.

When he arrived downstairs, Lt. Royal saw Mr. Lewis's truck around the corner. A238. He noted the license plate number and called 911 to report the crash. A239. While on the phone with 911, Mr. Lewis emerged from his truck and confronted Lt. Royal. *Id.* He yelled and moved aggressively towards Lt. Royal. A239-40. The 911 recording confirms that Lt. Royal ordered the men to "step away" from him, repeating the order five times. A105. Mr. Lewis and Mr. Johnson can also be heard shouting on the 911 recording. A106.

While ordering the men to stop, Lt. Royal backed away from the men who continued to aggressively approach him. A241. In an attempt to diffuse the situation, Lt. Royal displayed his baton and OC spray. A240; A241. Mr. Lewis then threatened to "whip [Lt. Royal's] ass" and kept advancing. A241. Fearful and unable to deescalate the situation, Lt. Royal discharged his OC spray when Mr.

Lewis, still approaching, was three feet away. A243. The OC spray malfunctioned and Mr. Lewis appeared unharmed. *Id*.

Mr. Lewis then returned to his vehicle and rummaged through the back seat area. A246. Lt. Royal, fearing Mr. Lewis was searching for a weapon, retreated toward his apartment building and attempted to call 911, but it was busy. A107; A246. Lt. Royal then entered his apartment where he used his police radio to report his use of force and ask for assistance. *Id.* MPD officers reported to the scene and completed a procedurally deficient investigation into the incident. A223-24.

In November 2015, MPD's Disciplinary Review Branch proposed the termination of Lt. Royal. A304. The proposal was based on seven charges of misconduct for: making false statements (charge 1); failing to follow the use of force continuum (charge 2); using OC spray without legal cause to detain (charge 3); using OC spray in a manner that escalated the conflict (charge 4); failing to notify MPD of his off-duty police activity (charge 5); failing to determine whether medical attention was needed (charge 6); and "inefficiency" based on three prior sustained complaints (charge 7). *Id*.

On January 26, 2016, MPD issued an Amended Notice of Proposed Adverse Action. A313. MPD originally proposed the inefficiency charge and noted that three prior complaints constituted *prima facie* evidence because the infractions were incurred within 12 months. *Id.* The amended notice corrected this

Rather than responding in writing as he had before, Lt. Royal requested an internal hearing before an Adverse Action Panel to contest the proposed termination. A134. The hearing panel convened on April 19 and May 2, 2016. A319. After hearing witness testimony and reviewing all the evidence, the panel found cause to sustain only two of the charges: using OC spray in a manner that escalated conflict (charge 4) and "inefficiency" based on three prior disciplinary actions (charge 7), one of which was the 15-day suspension described above. *Id.* The panel recommended that the proposed termination be reduced to a 25-day suspension. A362.

On June 27, 2016, the Director of Human Resource Management issued a Final Notice of Adverse Action suspending Lt. Royal for 20 days based on the two charges recommended by the panel. A363. Lt. Royal appealed the adverse action to Acting Chief of Police Peter Newsham. On April 12, 2017, Chief Newsham denied the appeal, agreeing with the panel's recommendation, and sustained the 20-day suspension based on the two charges. A370. Lt. Royal timely appealed the decision to OEA. A006.

to note that the three complaints occurred over a span of 16 months. *Id.* The amended charged noted that, "these complaints, while not prima facie evidence of inefficiency, point to a pattern of sustained misconduct which in and of itself is evidence of inefficiency." *Id.*

OEA Decision

At the time that Lt. Royal appealed his 20-day suspension, his 15-day suspension was still pending before OEA. The parties successfully moved to consolidate the two matters. A85. At issue was whether there was sufficient evidence to support the charges and whether the penalties were appropriate. *Id.*

Judge Lim held an evidentiary hearing on January 24, 2019, and March 8, 2019. A434. The parties then submitted post-hearing briefs. A372; A400. Lt. Royal argued that the 15-day suspension should be reversed because he made a reasonable assessment of the scene and did not violate MPD policy. A393-98. He argued that the escalation charge supporting the 20-day suspension should be reversed because his use of OC spray was consistent with MPD's use of force policy and even if it was not, the OC spray malfunctioned and did not discharge. A386-89. He also argued, among other things, that the "inefficiency" charge constituted administrative double-jeopardy and that one of the prior disciplinary actions was based on an advisory training bulletin, not a compulsory general order. A389-93.

MPD's post-hearing brief argued that Lt. Royal improperly escalated the second incident by failing to identify himself as a police officer and that his use of OC spray was objectively unreasonable. A425-29. MPD also argued that Lt.

Royal's three sustained disciplinary actions—including the 15-day suspension—were sufficient to sustain the inefficiency charge. A430-32.

Judge Lim issued an Initial Decision on April 29, 2019. A434. Judge Lim found Lt. Royal's testimony to be credible, consistent, and forthright. A446. Judge Lim found that there was no evidence to support the charges underlying the 15-day suspension. A446-47. Judge Lim also concluded that Lt. Royal did not escalate the April 2015 conflict, but instead "found himself in reasonable fear of imminent attack when Johnson and one or two other men approached him in a threatening manner." A449.

However, Judge Lim inexplicably addressed the five other proposed charges that were not included as a basis for the final agency decision. A447-50. Judge Lim proceeded to find that evidence supported two of these other proposed charges against Lt. Royal: charge 2, for failing to follow the use of force continuum, and charge 3, for using the OC spray without legal cause to detain the men. A448-49. Judge Lim also upheld the inefficiency charge based on three prior disciplinary actions, *including* the 15-day suspension he had just reversed. A450. Judge Lim upheld the 20-day suspension. A451.

Superior Court Decision

Lt. Royal filed a Petition for Review of OEA's decision to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia.² Royal Pet. for Review. Lt. Royal argued that Judge Lim's decision was erroneous because OEA lacked jurisdiction over the two charges that were not included as a basis for the final agency decision and that the inefficiency charge could not stand without the underlying 15-day suspension. Royal Br. at 11-18. MPD, as intervenor, filed a brief in opposition to Lt. Royals' petition. MPD Br. in Opp'n to Pet. Even though MPD had previously determined that there was no cause to discipline Lt. Royal for charges 2 and 3, it took a different position on appeal. MPD argued that because Judge Lim's review was de novo, he could sustain the suspension based on any cause, and that he was correct to find cause to support charges 2 and 3. *Id.* at 19. MPD further argued that the inefficiency charge was supported by substantial evidence because two wellfounded complaints were sufficient to constitute inefficiency under MPD's General Order. Id. at 21.

The Honorable Fern Flanagan Saddler denied Lt. Royal's Petition for Review. A454. Recognizing the absence of authority directly on point, the court

MPD filed a Petition for Review of OEA's decision reversing the 15-day suspension. That petition was dismissed as untimely. A002.

Regulation § 624.2 to "frame the issues as appropriate," and that he framed the issue of cause as, "whether 'Agency has cause for adverse action against employee." A463. This, together with OEA's broad authority under District of Columbia Code § 1-606.03 to "uphold, reverse, or modify" decisions, gave Judge Lim authority to uphold the suspension based on any "cause." *Id*.

The court also upheld Judge Lim's decision to sustain the inefficiency charge. A464. The court reasoned that although Judge Lim reversed the 15-day suspension, he also found Lt. Royal "guilty" of two new use of force charges in the 20-day suspension case. A467. The court held that with these new charges, in addition to the other two prior complaints, there was "significant evidence to leave Judge Lim's decision undisturbed." *Id*.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Superior Court erred in affirming OEA's decision finding cause to uphold MPD's 20-day suspension of Lt. Royal. OEA's decision was based on three charges: charge 2, for failing to follow the use of force continuum; charge 3, for using OC spray without legal cause to detain the suspects; and charge 7, for inefficiency.

MPD determined on its own that Lt. Royal was "not guilty" of charges 2 and 3, and did not use those charges as a basis for the suspension. By looking to the

original disciplinary proposal, and finding cause to support charges that MPD had abandoned, OEA exceeded its jurisdiction which is limited to review of final agency decisions. Moreover, by upholding the suspension based on different charges, on which neither party presented any evidence or argument, OEA deprived Lt. Royal of his due process right to notice of the charges and an opportunity to respond to them.

The Superior Court also erred in upholding charge 7, for inefficiency. That charge was based on Lt. Royal having three sustained adverse actions, including the 15-day suspension related to the February 2015 domestic dispute. When OEA found no cause to sustain the 15-day suspension and reversed that disciplinary action, there was no longer any cause to uphold the inefficiency charge. It was arbitrary and capricious for OEA to uphold the charge by reasoning that Lt. Royal did not dispute that he had three prior offenses on his record. This was plainly wrong, as he had successfully appealed the 15-day suspension. Furthermore, the remaining prior adverse actions were not only insufficient to support the charge, they were time-barred by D.C. Code § 5-1031, which requires the agency to initiate disciplinary action within 90 business days.

The Superior Court then erred in finding that charges 2 and 3 could nevertheless take the place of the 15-day suspension as the third "prior." The Superior Court and OEA were limited to considering the charge as articulated by

MPD in the final agency decision. In any event, the reformulated charge would also be barred by the 90-day rule under D.C. Code § 5-1031.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

Although this case comes before the Court of Appeals from a Superior Court decision, the scope of review is "precisely the same" as if the case came directly from the agency. *District of Columbia v. King*, 766 A.2d 38, 44 (D.C. 2001). Upon review of an Office of Employee Appeals decision, this Court applies the following standard:

Thus, in final analysis, confining ourselves strictly to the administrative record, we review the OEA's decision, *not the Superior Court's*, and we must affirm the OEA's decision so long as it is supported by substantial evidence in the record *and otherwise in accordance with the law*.

Sims v. District of Columbia, 933 A.2d 305, 310 (2007) (quoting Settlemire v. District of Columbia Office of Employee Apps., 898 A.2d 902, 905 (D.C. 2006) (emphasis added). Therefore, this Court "examine[s] the agency record to determine whether there is substantial evidence to support OEA's findings of fact, or whether OEA's action was arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion." King, 766 A.2d at 44 (quoting Office of D.C. Controller v. Frost, 638 A.2d 657, 660-61 (D.C.1994)).

The Court reviews questions of law *de novo*. *Placido v. District of Columbia Dep't of Emp. Serv.*, 92 A.3d 323, 326 (D.C. 2014) (citing *Washington*

v. District of Columbia Dep't of Pub. Works, 954 A.2d 945, 948 (D.C. 2008)). An agency's interpretation of its own regulation is generally given deference, unless the interpretation is "plainly erroneous or inconsistent with the regulations." *Id.* (citing District of Columbia Office of Tax & Revenue v. BAE Sys. Enter. Sys., 56 A.3d 477, 481 (D.C. 2012)). This court will only defer to an agency's interpretation of its governing statute, "so long as that interpretation is reasonable and consistent with the statutory language." District of Columbia v. Davis, 685 A.2d 389, 393 (D.C. 1996). However, this Court is "vested with the final authority on issues of statutory construction." *Id.*

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