No. 22-CV-220

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

CRAIG ROYAL,
APPELLANT,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS, *et al.*,
APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

**BRIEF FOR APPELLEE THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT**

BRIAN L. SCHWALB
Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE
Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK
Principal Deputy Solicitor General

THAIS-LYN TRAYER
Deputy Solicitor General

*ALEX FUMELLI
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Solicitor General

Office of the Attorney General
400 6th Street NW, Suite 8100
Washington, D.C. 20001
(202) 724-5671

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

giving rise to one or more bases for suing,” *Cause of action*, Black’s Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). In other words, a cause of action is the relevant nucleus of facts supporting a legal claim or charge, rather than the claim or charge itself. Here, the underlying facts relied on by both the Chief in his letter and the AJ in his decision were identical. App. 371 (Chief’s letter), 448-49 (OEA decision). Fundamentally, Royal was disciplined for creating and escalating a conflict while off-duty and using pepper spray without a proper warning or de-escalation attempts. The OEA was tasked with reviewing that determination, and it did so.

To the extent Royal argues that anything outside the four corners of the Chief’s letter is off-limits, that is not so. The letter notes that the Chief’s decision was based on “review[]” of the “records in this matter,” and thus necessarily incorporated all the facts and charges that the Chief considered. App. 371. The letter also explicitly referenced both the original and amended Notices of Proposed Adverse Action, and the published decision of the Adverse Action Panel. App. 370-371. Rather than listing or quoting the specifications for each charge, the letter simply relies on references to the underlying record—which contained all the charges in full. The Chief upheld some of those charges and not others, all of which were properly before the OEA on appeal.

Indeed, had the Chief denied Royal’s appeal as untimely without elaborating further, the letter and the underlying proceedings would still have constituted a “final

agency action” reviewable by the OEA. The Chief’s letter assumes the reader’s familiarity with the preceding litigation. It is best understood not as some sort of charging document on which an AJ tries an employee, but rather as the final analysis of misconduct first alleged in a Notice of Proposed Adverse Action. It “contains the cause of action,” 6B DCMR § 699.1, by virtue of its reference to that history.

As both Royal and the Adverse Action Panel acknowledged, there was significant overlap between Charges 2, 3, and 4, with certain elements of Charges 2 and 4 appearing to be the same. All three charges penalize aspects of Royal’s escalation and use of force, based on the nearly identical specifications of Royal’s unreasonable act of pepper-spraying the construction workers without any warning or de-escalation. Factually, meanwhile, all three charges were supported by precisely the same misconduct: Royal’s repeated escalation of a parking dispute to the point where he had cornered himself into using pepper spray. Royal argued as much on appeal to the Chief, and then again before the OEA, when he contended that Charge 4 was essentially duplicative of Charges 2 and 3. SA 39, 203-04; *see* App. 371.⁶ And the Adverse Action Panel was even more explicit: it noted that “specification number two of [Charge 2] was *identical* to that of charge number four

⁶ The Chief replied that the charges were not duplicative *per se* because the “directives”—in other words, the cited provisions of the General Orders—were not the same. App. 371.

specification one,” and thus chose to lump the specifications together into Charge 4. App. 353 (emphasis added). It can hardly be reversible error for the OEA, on de novo review, to choose to evaluate these identical or near-identical charges slightly differently from the Adverse Action Panel.

Assuring the permanency of every single “not guilty” finding, as Royal urges, would bind the OEA to potentially absurd results. It would force the OEA to turn a blind eye to concessions of guilt on the witness stand. The instant case serves as a strong example. Here, before the OEA, Royal admitted that he failed to take the steps countenanced by the Use of Force Continuum before resorting to pepper spray—essentially a confession as to Charges 2 and 3. *See* App. 448; SA 68-78, 135-37, 169-76. Royal points to no authority suggesting that the OEA is bound to ignore such testimony.

In fact, this Court has already directly counseled against a principle of administrative review that would permit affiants facing professional disciplinary charges to strategically confess to unchargeable bad behavior. In *In re Smith*, 403 A.2d 296 (D.C. 1979), an attorney charged with neglecting legal matters defended himself by maintaining that he was guilty not of the charge of neglect, but of the related, more minor offense of “using . . . subterfuge in getting the money for the work that I had already done for these people.” *Id.* at 297-98. Based on that testimony, Smith was re-charged with conduct involving dishonesty or deceit. *Id.*

He then urged that he was immune from the new charges—but the Court disagreed, noting that an attorney may not rely on the absence of a charged offense to “confess . . . professional indiscretions . . . freely at any time.” *Id.* at 300 (cleaned up); *see also In re Slattery*, 767 A.2d 203, 210-11 (D.C. 2001). This Court should not countenance a different result here simply because the charges to which Royal confessed were already levied earlier in the same proceeding.

To be sure, as the Superior Court acknowledged and Royal reiterates, the “OEA’s authority is not without limits.” Br. 18. “[I]mposing sanctions for charges that were *never* brought before the agency could likely not be construed as ‘upholding, reversing, or modifying’ an agency’s decision, and would likely run afoul of D.C. Code § 1-606.03.” App. 463. But here, using its typical procedures, the OEA simply upheld the discipline MPD imposed based on the same factual predicate the Chief relied on, relying on near-identical charges contained in the Notices of Proposed Adverse Action. That is a far cry from inventing new reasons to discipline an employee. Instead, it is well within the bounds of the OEA’s *de novo* “review” of “the decision of the agency.” D.C. Code § 1-606.03(b).

C. Any procedural error resulting from the OEA sustaining Charges 2 and 3 rather than Charge 4 was harmless.

In addition to his substantive contentions, Royal further argues that the OEA committed procedural error in sustaining Charges 2 and 3 because he had insufficient notice that the OEA would adjudicate those charges. Royal maintains that he was

required to defend “only against charges which were actually leveled against” him. Br. 17. This argument lacks merit, however, for any procedural error that occurred was harmless. *See R. & G. Orthopedic Appliances & Prosthetics, Inc. v. Curtin*, 596 A.2d 530, 539 (D.C. 1991) (inquiring whether the judgment was “substantially swayed” by the asserted error). Thus, this Court can affirm without even reaching the question of whether any procedural error in fact occurred.

Even assuming Royal lacked notice that the OEA proceedings encompassed Charges 2 and 3, any error did not significantly affect the outcome of the proceedings. *Contra* App. 463 (noting that the OEA broadly framed the issue for consideration as whether MPD “ha[d] cause for adverse action against [Royal]”); SA 168 (AJ’s question to Royal “to basically explain yourself or make the case as to why you should not be punished . . . [for] the parking lot issue. Say whatever you want to say.”). Both the Adverse Action Panel and the OEA agreed on a basic conclusion that drove Royal’s suspension: Royal had no legal basis to detain the construction workers and, by his own actions, escalated the conflict to the point where he deployed pepper spray without first providing a verbal warning or properly de-escalating. App. 355, 448-49. Whether framed as a violation of Charges 2 and 3, or exclusively Charge 4, the resulting penalty was the same: a 10-day suspension.⁷

⁷ If this Court were to disagree, the 10-day suspension for Charges 2 and 3 is segregable from the 10-day suspension for Charge 7. *See* App. 367.

Moreover, Royal did not suffer any prejudice from the OEA’s reconsideration of the theory supporting Royal’s guilt. *See Mercer v. United States*, 724 A.2d 1176, 1994 (D.C. 1999) (setting out prejudice at the core of harmless-error doctrine). Royal is correct that, “[b]efore any sanction can be imposed, an employer is required to provide an employee . . . with advance written notice stating any and all causes for which the employee is charged and the reasons, specifically and in detail, for the proposed action.” *Off. of D.C. Controller v. Frost*, 638 A.2d 657, 662 (D.C. 1994) (internal quotation marks and emphasis omitted). But that in fact occurred here. Royal was on notice of the charges against him, and the longstanding policies he was alleged to have violated, beginning with MPD’s Notice of Proposed Adverse Action. This is not the same situation as the one discussed and disapproved of in *Slattery*; here, MPD did not impermissibly apply a “newly declared standard[] of professional conduct . . . retroactively . . . after [respondent] had admitted to them.” *See Slattery*, 767 A.2d at 211.

Nor did the nature of the charges leave any doubt as to the prohibited conduct at issue. As discussed, the charges at bottom inquired whether and at what point in time, if ever, the use of force was legally justified. All three charges were predicated on the same set of factual allegations that were exhaustively investigated and litigated. Royal does not identify on appeal any meaningful legal difference among the charges. In fact, the specifications to support the charges are virtually identical,

compare App. 305 (Charges 2 and 3), *with* App. 306 (Charge 4), and the arguments raised to defend against the charges were indistinguishable. While Royal, for his part, consistently maintained that his use of force was justified throughout the entire encounter, *see* SA 177 (Royal testimony that “I merely protected me” and “[t]here was no escalation on my part whatsoever”), the OEA disagreed, ultimately concluding that Royal had instigated the altercation, though at a certain point in time credibly feared for his safety. *See* Charge 4 (citing General Order 901.07, Part V-C (providing that non-deadly force may be used “to protect life” but that “[o]nly objectively reasonable force may be used to respond to threats or resistance in every situation”)).

The administrative record confirms the lack of any prejudice. The record before the OEA included the parties’ own stipulation of facts and reflected a full accounting of the incident and subsequent investigation. App. 87-171. That stipulation, in fact, included the summarized testimony of every witness before the Adverse Action Panel. App. 89-121, 135-55. This means that the OEA had the benefit of all the evidence Royal chose to present when he unquestionably knew Charges 2 and 3 were before the factfinder. And then, of course, the OEA held a *de novo* evidentiary hearing at which seven witnesses testified, including Royal himself. Royal had every opportunity to call favorable witnesses whose testimony would be germane to disproving the charge, to cross-examine witnesses favorable to

MPD, and to introduce relevant documentary evidence. On appeal, Royal does not contend that he was deprived of the chance to introduce any additional or different evidence.

II. Charge 7 For Inefficiency Was Supported By Substantial Evidence.

Finally, Charge 7, for inefficiency, was amply supported by the record. MPD alleged a violation of General Order 120.21, Attachment A, Part A-8, which defines the inefficiency offense as “repeated and well-founded complaints from superior officers, or others, concerning the performance of police duty, or the neglect of duty.” App. 80. The order further provides that “[t]hree sustained Adverse Actions within a 12-month period upon charges involving misconduct, as provided in this section, shall be *prima facie* evidence of inefficiency,” and that “[t]he Adverse Action charges need not be related.” App. 80-81.

As the OEA explained, the inefficiency charge was sustained on the basis of three complaints: (1) the suspension over the February 2015 domestic-violence incident; (2) a January 2015 suspension (IS No. 13-3040); and (3) a July 2014 suspension (IS No. 14-1674). App. 450. As the OEA noted, Royal did not “deny having these priors in his work record.” App. 450. And as the Superior Court accurately observed, inefficiency requires only “repeated and well-founded complaints”; it does not set a minimum number of complaints or demand that corresponding penalties be imposed at the end of the disciplinary road. App. 467.

Royal challenges the inefficiency charge on the basis that the OEA ultimately reversed the February 2015 suspension. Br. 21. Royal maintains that the “two remaining priors were insufficient to support the inefficiency charge,” and that the inefficiency charge “requires three sustained adverse actions.” Br. 21. That position, however, is belied by the plain language of the order. App. 80-81. The complaints need not rise to the level of sustained adverse action. Royal’s argument misreads the inefficiency offense, and relies on a logical fallacy; while all sustained adverse actions flow from well-founded complaints, not all well-founded complaints necessarily result in adverse action.

Royal further challenges the inefficiency charge on the basis that, without the February 2015 suspension that the OEA reversed, “there was no longer prima facie evidence of inefficiency.” Br. 20. But Royal’s argument about MPD’s prima facie case is irrelevant at this juncture. The OEA already determined that MPD proved by a preponderance of the evidence that Royal was repeatedly the subject of well-founded complaints concerning the performance of his police duties. *See U.S. Postal Service Bd. of Governors v. Aikens*, 460 U.S. 711, 713-14 (1983) (where an action is decided on the merits, it is unnecessary to address whether a party has made out a prima facie case). Indeed, over a 16-month period, between July 2014 and February 2015, he was the subject of *three* well-founded complaints, a predominant thread

being Royal’s improper conduct while off-duty. App. 308; *see also* SA 70 (Royal testimony apparently referencing past allegations of abuse of authority).

Royal did not contest his priors, and he tellingly declines to offer any argument on appeal that the complaints were not, in fact, well-founded. Even the February 2015 complaint, while ultimately not sustained by the OEA, had ample foundation. Royal does not contest that he intervened in what sounded like a domestic dispute in his apartment building; that he escorted one party out of the building without contacting on-duty officers or seriously investigating the potential crime himself; or that the incident later resulted in arrests. *See* App. 26-29, 34-39, 43-47, 89-94. After hearing evidence, an MPD Adverse Action Panel sustained charges regarding the February 2015 misconduct, even if on *de novo* review the OEA did not. This disagreement does not indicate that the charges lacked any foundation.

Royal also faults the Superior Court’s reasoning that Charge 7 could be affirmed on the basis of the April 2015 incident, “as well as the [three] other well-founded complaints submitted by Petitioner’s supervisors,” which Royal views as “*post hoc* substitution of charges.” Br. 22. Setting aside the fact that it is the OEA decision that is on review before this Court, *Brown*, 993 A.2d at 532, the Superior Court was correct to note that substantial evidence supports the inefficiency charge when taking into account the April 2015 incident. In fact, all told, Royal was

the subject of four complaints in an 18-month period, with *three* of those complaints alone occurring during a *four-month* period between January and April 2015. And although Royal argues that he could not have been expected to defend against the inefficiency charge based on the April 2015 incident, Br. 23, there is no doubt that Royal was aware of the fourth well-founded complaint in his disciplinary record. At a minimum, given that the April 2015 allegations were sustained, the OEA’s use of the (now unnecessary) February allegations to support the inefficiency charge was harmless error. *See LCP, Inc. v. D.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control Bd.*, 499 A.2d 897, 903 (D.C. 1985) (“reversal and remand is required only if substantial doubt exists whether the agency would have made the same ultimate finding with the error removed” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

Finally, Royal attacks the inefficiency charge as predicated on “stale” charges. Br. 21. Royal maintains that he was not charged with the offense of inefficiency until more than 90 days past the February 2015 incident, contrary to the timing requirements of D.C. Code § 5-1031. Br. 24. Not only is that argument advanced for the first time on appeal, and therefore forfeited, *see, e.g., Tauber v. Quan*, 938 A.2d 724, 733 (D.C. 2007), but Royal also invokes a repealed statute. Even assuming the applicability of the 90-day rule to this progressive discipline offense, the Comprehensive Policing and Justice Reform Amendment Act of 2022, D.C. Act 24-781, 70 D.C. Reg. 953 (Jan. 27, 2023) (“Reform Act”), repealed that statute of

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